THE CHARGER

CLEVELAND CIVIL. WAR ROUNDTABLE
DECEMBER 2017 VoL. 39 # 3

Executive Committee 2016/2017

President - Hans Kuenzi
Vice President - Dan Ursu
Treasurer - C. Ellen Connally
Secretary - Steve Pettijohn
Howard Besser - Director
Patrick Bray - Director
Jean Rhodes - Director
Christopher Fortunato—Director
Paul Burkholder - Webmaster
Historian: David A. Carrino
Website : clevelandcivilwarroundtable.com

E-mail: m.wells@csuohio.edu or w.keating@csuohio.edu

Editors: Dennis Keating, Michael Wells Newsletter Design: Catherine Wells
3K ok 3k ok ok ok ok 5k ok ok 5k ok ok 5k ok ok 5k ok 5k K ok 5k ok ok 3k ok ok 5k ok ok %k ok ok K ok 5k ok ok 5k ok ok 5k ok ok koK 5k ok ok 5k ok ok 5k ok 5k ok ok ok ok ok 5k ok ok 5k ok ok %k ok ok ok ok 5k ok ok %k ok ok ok ok ok k ok
Message From the President

When one considers the large number of engagements that occurred during the Civil War, and the great num-
bers of individuals who participated in these actions, the variety and types of experiences encountered during
the heat of combat appears to be endlessly varied. However, it is clear that soldiers in action during the Civil
War were exposed to conditions which shocked the senses. A.F. Hill served with the Eighth Pennsylvania Vol-
unteer Reserves at Gaines's Mill (east of Richmond on June 27, 1862). Despite having to load and fire as
quickly as he could, Hill couldn't help noticing his comrades' reactions when hit by small arms fire:

Here a man would suddenly start, drop his gun, and limp away - the blood flowing from a wound in his leg;
another would suddenly spring in the air, uttering a piercing shriek, then fall back, quivering - lifeless - his eyes
staring vacantly - his teeth set - his hands clenched till the fingernails cut into the palms. Another would sink
to the ground without a groan - without a grasp for the suddenly departing breath. Another would convulsively
clasp his hand to his breast - perhaps brow - a moment stand, then stagger, reel, and fall to the earth gasping for
breath - the hot blood gushing from his wound.

(Taken from The Bloody Crucible of Courage, by Brent Nosworthy).

The impact of this sensory exposure became too much for some men to endure. They broke down, and became
unable carry on. By the middle of the Civil War, the Union Army developed policies to treat victims of such
mental trauma. The Government Hospital for the Insane was founded, a product of the asylum movement in
the antebellum period.
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Message cont.

Once there, soldiers recuperated under a system of "moral treatment". Although the Union command understood the
impact of war trauma, the medical field believed the manifestations of distress to be the product of moral or physical
weakness. Our speaker this month, Kathleen Logothetis Thompson, earned her Masters in History from West Virgin-
ia University. She is currently pursuing her Ph.D. degree at WV U with research on mental trauma in the Civil

War. Her fascinating talk, a cultural / medical analysis, will examine the experience of war for the Civil War soldier,
the impact of those experiences on the individual and how the Union army chose to treat the resulting symptoms.

Please make plans to join us this month to learn more about this interesting aspect of the Civil War.
Hans Kuenzi
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Nov. History Brief (Longer versions of this & the Oct. Brief are available on the CCWRT website)
David Carrino

Like father, like son; or not

I remember when I was much younger, maybe age 12, my father took my brother and me to see the movie
Taras Bulba. The movie stars Yul Brynner and Tony Curtis as, respectively, a father and son, and I suppose that this
pairing strains credulity for genetic inheritance of physical appearance. The father and son in the movie are members
of a Cossack community, and this community is in conflict with a Polish principality. During the movie, the son falls
in love with a Polish woman and makes the decision to fight with the Poles in their conflict against the Cossacks.
Near the end of the movie, the enraged father kills his son for supporting the cause that he opposes. As it happens, the
Civil War had something of a Taras Bulba episode, and it occurred at the battle of Galveston.

On New Year's Day 1863, when the second day of the battle of Murfreesboro took place, a much less known
but nonetheless fierce battle occurred at Galveston, Texas. In this battle on the Gulf Coast, a Confederate force recap-
tured Galveston from a Union force that was occupying the city. Galveston had been taken by the Union in October
1862, and its recapture by the Confederates returned to them an important shipping port. As significant as this was to
the Confederacy as a whole, an occurrence of much less significance to the overall war effort of either side had much
greater significance for one person who participated in the Galveston battle that New Year's Day and brought home to
that person, as no other event could, just how costly his cause could be. For this person, the new year of 1863 began
with an indescribable personal loss. The person in question was Albert M. Lea, who was an officer in the Confederate
army (and whose surname rhymes with that of Robert E. Lee, although they are not related). Ironically, despite Albert
Lea's allegiance to the Confederacy, he has two naming legacies, both of which are in Union territory. A small city in
southern Minnesota is named after the Confederate officer, as is the small lake next to which this city is located. In
addition, Albert Lea is credited with giving the state of lowa its name.

Albert Lea was born on July 23, 1808 in a small town several miles northeast of Knoxville, Tennessee. At the age of
19, he entered the U.S. Military Academy, and he graduated fifth in the class of 1831, which consisted of 33 cadets.
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History Brief cont

Among Lea's classmates was Samuel Curtis, who commanded the Union army that was victorious at the battle of
Pea Ridge. Prior to the Civil War, Albert Lea, who was both an artillerist and a topographical engineer, did much
service for the army in the West. One of his most noteworthy missions occurred in 1835 and involved exploration in
what became the state of [owa. The unit that was assigned to this expedition was directed to explore northward from
Fort Des Moines and was commanded by Colonel Stephen Kearny, the uncle of Philip Kearny, a Union general.
Stephen Kearny's unit consisted of three companies, one commanded by Albert Lea, one commanded by Nathan
Boone, the youngest son of Daniel Boone, and one commanded by Edwin Sumner, a corps commander in the Un-
ion's Army of the Potomac. After this expedition was finished, Lea resigned from the army and published a short
book about the mission, in which he described the territory that had been explored. In that book, Lea referred to the
territory as lowa, presumably after the lowa Indian tribe. When lowa became a state, the name that Lea had used
was adopted as the state's name. During the expedition, one of the places at which Lea's unit set up camp was a
short distance across the border between Iowa and Minnesota. Years later, when a town was established on this site,
the town and the lake next to the town were named Albert Lea. Albert Lea, Minnesota is now a small city with a
population of approximately 20,000.

On May 5, 1836 Albert Lea married Ellen Shoemaker. The following year on January 31, while they were
living in Baltimore, Albert and Ellen welcomed a son, whom they named Edward. In 1841 Ellen died, and for the
next 16 years Albert Lea moved around the country while he held various positions. During this time Albert remar-
ried to a woman named Catherine Heath. In 1857 Albert moved to Texas, where several members of his family had
previously moved. His son, Edward, who was now 20 years old, had stayed in Maryland when his father moved
away and later attended the U.S. Naval Academy. After Edward graduated, he served on the steam frigate Harriet
Lane, a ship that was named after James Buchanan's niece, who filled the role of first lady during the presidency of
the bachelor Buchanan. (Although Harriet Lane was not the wife of a president, she is the first person to be called
first lady while she lived in the White House.) While serving on the Harriet Lane prior to the Civil War, Edward
went on voyages to France and China.

When the Civil War began, Albert sought and received a commission with the Confederate army. Early in
1862 Albert was sent to Cumberland Gap to design fortifications and to supervise construction of the fortifications.
These fortifications deterred a Union commander from attacking Cumberland Gap and led to this strategic pass re-
maining in Confederate hands. Albert's son, Edward, remained loyal to the U.S. and continued to serve on the Har-
riet Lane. The Harriet Lane was part of the expedition that was sent to resupply Fort Sumter in the spring of 1861,
and while the ship was in the vicinity of Fort Sumter, the Harriet Lane reputedly fired the first naval shot of the Civ-
il War. After service along the Florida coast, in the Gulf of Mexico, and on the Mississippi River, the Harriet Lane
was part of a combined army-navy Union force that captured Galveston on October 4, 1862. After that battle the
Harriet Lane remained as part of the occupation force. At this time the captain of the Harriet Lane was Jonathan
Wainwright, and the first officer was Edward Lea.

On January 1, 1863 a Confederate combined army-navy force launched an attack in an attempt to retake Galves-
ton. The Confederate force was under the command of John Magruder, who had distinguished himself at Yorktown,
Virginia during the early stages of George McClellan's Peninsula campaign. After Robert E. Lee assumed command
of the Army of Northern Virginia and reorganized that army, Magruder was sent west. Shortly after Magruder's
transfer, Albert Lea was also sent west and was assigned to the force that was assembled to attack Galveston, where
Lea's artillery and engineering expertise was of great use to Magruder.
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History Brief cont.

As the battle unfolded, Confederate army units entered Galveston, and Albert Lea was directed to occupy a
tall church steeple, from which he could observe the naval battle in the bay and provide information to the
army about the naval battle. During that naval battle, two Confederate gunboats, the Neprune and the Bay-
ou City, attacked the Union fleet in Galveston harbor, which numbered six vessels. The Neptune was sunk,
but the Bayou City managed to ram the Harriet Lane, and a Confederate boarding party took control of the
stricken ship. When the boarding party stormed onto the Harriet Lane, Jonathan Wainwright, the Harriet
Lane's captain, was killed, and Edward Lea was severely wounded in the abdomen. The ramming of the
Harriet Lane initiated a series of events that caused a complete collapse of both the Union army and navy
forces, and this led to a Confederate victory.

From his perch in the steeple, Albert Lea saw the ramming and boarding of the Harriet Lane, the
U.S. ship which, according to Albert's most recent information, was the ship on which his son, Edward,
was serving. Albert Lea informed his commanding officer, John Magruder, that Edward was a member of
the Harriet Lane's crew, and Magruder immediately granted permission to Albert to search for his son.
When Albert boarded the Harriet Lane, he found Edward dying from his wound, and Edward was no doubt
surprised to see that his father had come to his aid. At some point, some of the members of the Confeder-
ate boarding party asked Edward if they could help to ease his suffering. Edward responded with the mov-
ing words, "No. My father is here." Soon thereafter Edward died, and Albert had lost his son in a battle in
which father and son participated on opposing sides.

On the following day Edward Lea and his commanding officer, Jonathan Wainwright, were buried
together in the same grave. Edward's father, Albert, read an invocation at the ceremony, and in this invo-
cation he referred to himself when he asked of those who attended the ceremony, "Allow one so sorely
tried in this, his willing sacrifice, to beseech you to believe that while we defend our rights with our strong
arms and honest hearts, those we meet in battle may also have hearts as brave and honest as our own." Ed-
ward was not quite 27 years old when he died. The marker for Edward Lea that was placed on the grave is
inscribed with his name, birthdate, date of death, and the words he spoke while he lay dying on the deck of
the Harriet Lane, "My father is here." Wainwright was later reinterred at the Naval Academy Cemetery in
Annapolis. When someone suggested to Albert Lea that his son's remains be reinterred next to Edward's
mother in Baltimore, Albert replied that Edward would have preferred that his final resting place be near
where he had fallen in battle. Edward Lea's grave remains where he was originally buried, marked with
the headstone inscribed with the touching words spoken by Edward shortly before he died. Albert Lea
continued to serve the Confederacy at various assignments in Texas until the end of the Civil War. After
the war, he lived in Texas and worked in various professions, none of which was particularly successful.
Albert Lea died on January 16, 1891, six months after his 82nd birthday. Ironically, the day within the
month of January on which Albert died is equidistant in days between the days of the month on which Ed-
ward was born and on which Edward died.

In the movie Taras Bulba, just before the father killed his son for choosing to fight with the enemy,
the father shouted to his son, "I gave you life. It is on me to take it away from you." In contrast to the fa-
ther in Taras Bulba, who actually shot and killed his son, Albert Lea did not pull the trigger of the gun that
mortally wounded his son, Edward. Nevertheless, because Albert and Edward were fighting on opposing
sides in the battle that led to Edward's death, it can be said that in the extended sense of battlefield com-
radeship, Albert, who gave Edward life, took that life away. However, unlike the father in Taras Bulba,
Albert did not harbor virulent hostility toward his son for choosing to fight for the Union. Consequently,
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the father's quote from Taras Bulba is not really the most appropriate quote to describe the tragic incident in-
volving Albert and Edward Lea. Rather, the most appropriate quote comes from the ancient Greek text The
Histories, which was written by Herodotus. I used this quote once before in a history brief, and it definitely
applies to the story of Albert and Edward Lea. The quote reads, "In times of peace sons bury their fathers; in
times of war fathers bury their sons." This quote is even more poignant with regard to the story of Albert and
Edward Lea, because not only did Albert Lea bury his son because of a war, Albert Lea was part of the military
force that made this burial necessary.

SPECIAL CIVIL WAR BOOK SALE

THERE WILL BE A SPECIAL SALE OF FINE CIVIL WAR BOOKS IN got books?
EXCELLENT

CONDITION ON A WIDE VARIETY OF TOPICS AT OUR JANUARY MEETING.
INCLUDED IN THE TITLES ARE SEVERAL BIOGRAPHIES OF CIVIL WAR
GENERALS AND OTHER PERSONALITIES. THE BOOKS ARE THE RESULT OF A
DONATION FROM A COLLECTOR OF HISTORICAL TITLES GIVEN THROUGH
LYNN PETTYJOHN, RETIRED LIBRARIAN. PLEASE BE SURE TO
BRING SOME EXTRA CASH OR CHECK TO TAKE ADVANTAGE OF
THIS UNIQUE
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John Gibbon
By Dennis Keating

John Gibbon was one of the best combat commanders of the Army of the Potomac. He was also one of the
few Southern West Pointers to side with the Union. Post-Civil War, he participated in two of the most memo-
rable western campaigns of the Plains Indian wars.

Born near Philadelphia in 1827, his family later moved to Charlotte, North Carolina and became slave own-
ers). Entering West Point at age fifteen, he flunked out but then returned. But, this meant that he arrived in
Mexico in1847 as an artillery officer too late to experience the fighting. He was assigned to Florida during the
conflict with the Seminoles. Returning to West Point as its artillery instructor, in 1859 he published The Artil-
lerist’s Manual. At the outbreak of the rebellion, Gibbon was stationed in Utah. After his decision to serve
with the Union (in contrast to three brothers who served with North Carolina Confederate units), he was as-
signed to lead an artillery battery in George McClellan’s Army of the Potomac in the division led by Irvin
McDowell. Gibbon would be an admirer of George McClellan.
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Gibbon cont.

On May 7, 1862, McDowell promoted Gibbon to command of a brigade consisting of four western regiments: the 2",
6", and 7" Wisconsin and the 19" Indiana. A strict disciplinarian, he ordered the brigade to wear the distinctive Hardee
hats (and the brigade became known as the “Black Hats”).

Gibbon’s brigade saw its first combat at Brawners’ farm on August 28, 1862 when they fought the Stonewall brigade
during Robert E. Lee’s campaign against John Pope’s Army of Virginia at Second Manassas. His outnumbered com-
mand suffered heavy casualties but held against Stonewall Jackson’s forces. It then marched North to face D.H. Hill’s
force guarding the passes on South Mountain against McClellan’s advance. On September 14, 1862, Gibbon’s com-
mand attacked the Confederates at Turner’s Gap, losing about one-quarter of its remaining number. Supposedly, an im-
pressed Joe Hooker and McClellan called Gibbon’s regiments the “Iron Men of the West”. The name stuck.

On the morning of September 17, Gibbon’s Iron Brigade of Hooker’s I Corps advanced through the Miller farm against
Stonewall Jackson’s command. In the furious fighting in the cornfield and beyond, about 40 percent of the Iron Bri-
gade were casualties. After these three battles within a few weeks, the Iron Brigade strength was reduced from an initial
2,888 to only 465. On October 8, 1862 the 24™ Michigan became the fifth regiment of the Iron Brigade. However, Gib-
bon was promoted to command of the second division of the First Corps, now commanded by John Reynolds.

At Fredericksburg, Gibbon’s division joined with George Meade’s attack south of the town against Stonewall Jackson’s
force (once again). Their momentary success was repulsed and Gibbon was wounded by an artillery shell. Returning to
the army, Gibbon became commander of the second division of the II Corps. At Fredericksburg under John Sedgewick
when Hooker was at Chancellorsville in the Wilderness, Gibbon’s division did not see action.

This was not the case at Gettysburg. With Winfield Scott Hancock in command of the II Corps (and then of a wing of
the Army of the Potomac following Reynolds’ death on the first day), Gibbon’s division was posted on Cemetery
Ridge. After the late evening conference on the second day, George Gordon Meade now commanding the army warned
Gibbon that if Lee attacked again the following day, it would probably against the II Corps. Mounted at the Angle, Gib-
bon was wounded as he helped lead the successful repulse of the Pickett-Pettigrew (a cousin of Gibbon) charge. Two of
his brothers serving in the 28™ North Carolina also participated in the charge. His division suffered 61 percent casual-
ties.

Recovering from his second Civil War wound, Gibbon briefly became commander of the draftee depot in Cleveland in
October, 1863. Gibbon was at Lincoln’s address in November at the dedication of the Union cemetery in Gettysburg.

In the Spring, the Army of the Potomac, now joined by Union Commander-in-Chief U.S. Grant, entered the Wilderness
again. On May 6, Hancock ordered Gibbon to advance against James.

Longstreet’s counter-attack but :Gibbon said that he failed to receive the order. This dispute led to a lifelong conflict
between the two, fueled by more issues in the future. In Grant’s Overland campaign, Gibbon’s division participated in
the terrible battle at Spotsylvania and the failed assault at Cold Harbor.

These battles took a heavy toll on Gibbon’s command, requiring replacements to make up the heavy losses (72 percent
of its original strength at the beginning of the campaign). This resulted in the embarrassing defeat on June 16, 1864 at
the Jerusalem Plank Road where II Corps was to cut the Weldon Railroad as part of Grant’s siege of Petersburg. This
was followed on July 25 by another dispute between Hancock and Gibbon about attack orders at Deep Bottom.
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Gibbon cont.

These battles took a heavy toll on Gibbon’s command, requiring replacements to make up the heavy losses (72 percent
of its original strength at the beginning of the campaign). This resulted in the embarrassing defeat on June 16, 1864 at
the Jerusalem Plank Road where II Corps was to cut the Weldon Railroad as part of Grant’s siege of Petersburg. This
was followed on July 25 by another dispute between Hancock and Gibbon about attack orders at Deep Bottom.

In 1885, Gibbon succeeded Miles as commander of the Department of the Columbia which included the territories of
Oregon, Washington and Idaho. His major challenge was to suppress rioting in Tacoma and Seattle against Chinese
immigrants. His army career ended as commander of the Military Division of the Pacific with his retirement in 1891.

Gibbon wrote his Personnel Recollections of the Civil War, which was not published until 32 years after his death in
1896. With his several commands, many Civil War battles and his participation in the Indian wars of 1876-1877, this
distinguished solder was most remembered for his command of the Black Hats and the Iron Brigade of the Army of the
Potomac. In 1911, the Iron Brigade Association funded a monument over Gibbon’s grave in Arlington National Ceme-
tery. In July, 1988, a monument of Gibbon was dedicated on the Gettysburg battlefield.

References

Lance J. Herdegan The Iron Brigade. Essential Civil War Curriculum: http://essentialcivilwarcurriculum.com/the-iron-
brigade.html

Dennis S. Lavery and Mark H. Jordan. /ron Brigade General: John Gibbon, A Rebel in Blue (1993).
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A Night at the Chesnut Cottage By Paul Siedel
One of the most noted diarists of the Civil War era was Mrs. Mary Boykin Chesnut. In 1861 she began recording her
experiences as the wife of James Chesnut Jr.

Mr. Chesnut was a former U.S. Senator from South Carolina and later a member of the Confederate Congress and a
Confederate Major General. After the War she published her memoirs which later in the Twentieth Century came to
be called "A Diary From Dixie", In her book she recorded her memories of her interactions with such famous persons
as Varina Howell Davis, John Bell Hood, Sally Buchanan Preston, and many more of the premier players of that era. In
it she shared her views on a woman's place in society at the time, along with the infinite boredom she suffered at Mul-
berry Plantation, the home of her father in law James Chesnut Sr. She carefully put down her thoughts as she and her
husband eventually slid into poverty along with the waning fortunes of the Confederacy. During the war she traveled
throughout the South. She and her husband at various times resided in Richmond, Camden, Charleston, and Columbia
S. C. During the spring of 1864 she and her husband rented a house on Plain St. in Columbia. While living there she
recorded her experiences with many of the leading citizens of that city, and in October 1864 she wrote of entertaining
Jefferson Davis on his return trip to Richmond after reviewing the Army of Tennessee. There he met with General
Hood and formulated the campaign which ended in the disaster in central Tennessee. In February 1865 she fled to Flat
Rock and later to Lincolnton, N. C. to avoid the ravages of Sherman's advancing army. There she recorded her thoughts
regarding the burning of Columbia, her relationship with Mrs. Joseph Johnston, and the downcast General John Bell
Hood whom the vivacious Sally Preston had recently spurned.
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Chestnut cont.

Although much of Columbia was put to the torch, the home on Plain St.
survived, and today is known as "The Mary Chesnut Cottage." The home is |
maintained as a beautiful bed and breakfast presided over by the longtime
owner Mr. Gale Garrett and his lovely wife Sherwood. Our stay was a per-
fect! I slept in a beautiful room once that of Jefferson Davis and from
which Mrs. Chesnut, while seated at the window, listened to the speech he
gave to the citizens of Columbia. Mr. Garrett has a wonderful library available to guests, and the breakfast
was beyond compare, eggs, bacon and fresh fruit supplemented with plenty of good coffee.

The "Chesnut Cottage" is located in the Columbia Historic District which includes such notable homes as
the boyhood home of Woodrow Wilson and the Hampton-Preston House. Columbia and in particular the
Chesnut Cottage are well worth the 9-hour drive from Cleveland and a very rewarding adventure to any
Civil War buff who ventures off the beaten path.
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JOIN US FOR OUR NEXT MEETING

Dec. 13, 2017
Program: Morality or War Experience? Kathleen Logothetis Thompson
Drinks @ 6pm, Dinner @ 6:30 Judson Manor
East 107th St & Chester

Meeting will begin at 7 pm.
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Lee’s Daughters part2 by Dave Carrino
Mary Custis Lee

Mary Custis Lee, the first daughter and second child of Robert E. and Mrs. Lee, was born |
on July 12, 1835 in a small room on the second floor of Arlington House. Mary was the
first of the Lee children to be born at Arlington, and all of Mary's five younger siblings
were also born there. Mary's older brother, Custis, was born three years earlier at Fort
Monroe in Hampton, Virginia. This was the location of Robert E. Lee's military assign-
ment at the time of Custis' birth, which occurred on September 16, 1832, although Mrs.
Lee and her infant son went to Arlington soon after the birth so that Mrs. Lee's parents 5
could help their daughter with her recovery. Late in 1834 Lee received a new assignment in the Chief Engineer's
Office in Washington, which allowed the Lees to live at Arlington. This would have permitted Lee to be present at
the birth of his first daughter, Mary, but Lee received an assignment shortly before Mary's birth to be a member of
a survey party, which was sent to survey the border between Ohio and Michigan because of a border dispute. Be-
cause of this, Lee was not at Arlington when Mary was born. Mrs. Lee had asked her husband in a letter to return
to Arlington for the birth, and her primary reason for making this request was that she was suffering an episode of
the rheumatic disease that afflicted her throughout her life. However, Lee refused to return to Arlington, and his
letter to his wife shows some evidence of the profound sense of duty for which Lee is famous. In that letter Lee
chided Mrs. Lee, "But why do you urge my immediate return, & tempt one in the strongest manner, to endeavor to
get excused from the performance of a duty, imposed on me by my Profession for the pure gratification of my pri-
vate feelings? Do you not think...that I rather require to be strengthened & encouraged to the full performance of
what I am called on to execute, rather than excited to a dereliction, which even our affection could not palliate, or
our judgement excuse?" Fortunately for Mrs. Lee, she had her parents to care for her. A few months after Mary's
birth, Mrs. Lee described her daughter in a letter to a friend as having "brown hair very fine large black eyes a
perfect little mouth & respectable nose." That winter Mary became ill with croup, and her father, who had re-
turned from his assignment on the Ohio-Michigan border, held Mary through the night to ease the baby's conges-
tion. The daughter at whose birth Lee declined to be present grew up to be a fiercely independent woman with
sharp features, a sharp tongue, and a pointed temperament. Mary's independent nature and outspoken demeanor

became especially evident in her post-Civil War life.

In the spring of 1837, Lee received his next assignment, which was in St. Louis to improve the harbor there. At
that time, Mrs. Lee was close to delivering the third of the Lee children, Rooney. Lee left for St. Louis soon after
Rooney's birth on May 31, 1837 and remained there without his family until work could no longer be done due to
the onset of winter.
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Lee cont.

The following spring, after Lee had rejoined his family at Arlington for the winter, Mrs. Lee, Rooney, and old-
er brother, Custis, who was five years old, returned with Lee to St. Louis. Mary, who was nearing her third
birthday, remained at Arlington with her grandparents because of illness. Mary's bedroom in Arlington House
was called the Lafayette room, because the Marquis had stayed in that room when he visited in 1824. When
Mary was living at Arlington with her family away in St. Louis, Mary began to be educated by her grandfather,
G.W.P. Custis, about family portraits and Mount Vernon artifacts that were at Arlington. Many years later
Mary claimed to be the most knowledgeable member of the family about those paintings and artifacts, because
she "received my knowledge of them first hand from my grandfather himself." About a year after his return to
St. Louis, in a letter dated March 20, 1839, Lee expressed concern to his mother-in-law about Mary's rebel-
liousness and wrote that he hoped that the reason for this trait could be "laid to the door of her vivacity" rather
than to a "harsher name." The concern that Lee voiced in this letter indicates that he recognized that Mary, even
at the young age of four, was defiant and assertive. Young Mary's behavior was a harbinger of the self-reliant
and independent woman that she became. A few months after Lee sent this letter, Mrs. Lee, Custis, and Rooney
returned to Arlington for the birth of the next Lee child, Annie, who was born in the summer of 1839. At this
time Custis (age seven) and Mary (age four) began to be schooled by their mother, while their father continued
his work in St. Louis.

Lee's next assignment brought him back east, but not close enough to Arlington for the family to live there. Lee
was assigned to New York City to repair harbor defenses. In late 1840 Lee rejoined his family, which did not
return to St. Louis after the birth of Annie. Only two months into the new year, the parents of four children,
aged eight years, five years, four years, and 20 months, welcomed another child, daughter Agnes. Lee confided
in a letter to a friend that he was beginning to feel the stress of being the father of such a large family, because
he described Agnes' birth as "the arrival of another little Lee, whose approach, however long foreseen, I could
have dispensed with for a year or two more." Lee left for Fort Hamilton in New York City in May 1841. His
family, such as it was at that time with Rob and Mildred not yet born, joined him in the summer. The Lees lived
at Fort Hamilton for the next five years except for short trips to Arlington. One such trip was for the birth of
son, Rob, on October 27, 1843, and another, near the end of the Lee family's time in New York City, was for
the birth of the last Lee child, daughter Mildred, on February 10, 1846. For Mary, the time in New York City
was the first time in her life that she lived for an extended period away from Arlington. Mary continued to be
schooled by her mother and was introduced by Mrs. Lee to the latest fashions.

After Mrs. Lee and the children returned to Arlington in early 1846 for Mildred's birth, Lee lived alone at Fort
Hamilton until the summer. Several months earlier, when war with Mexico was a looming possibility, Lee sent
a letter to the commander of the Corps of Engineers, Joseph Totten, in which he stated, "In the event of war
with any foreign government I should desire to be brought into active service in the field." Lee's wish was
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was granted in August 1846 when he was ordered to report for duty in the war with Mexico. Lee returned to Ar-
lington, saw Mildred for the first time, wrote the only will he ever prepared, and traveled to Mexico for the first
combat in which he was ever engaged. Due to his widespread military assignments and his wife's strong attach-
ment to her home at Arlington, Lee spent a great deal of time living away from his family. But this time the patri-
arch of the Lee family was leaving for the most dangerous assignment of his military career, and his family no
doubt prayed for his safe return as much as it prayed for victory. Lee saw to it that both of those prayers were an-
swered. He returned from the war so highly regarded by his commanding officer, Winfield Scott, that Scott recom-
mended that Lee's life be insured in the event of a war. After his return from Mexico, Lee was able to live with his
family at Arlington through the summer of 1848, because he was attached to the Corps of Engineers office in
Washington while he awaited his next assignment. He was now the father of seven children, who ranged in ages
from 16 to two.

Not too long after Lee's return from Mexico, he received an assignment to Baltimore. His primary duty was con-
struction of a fort to replace Fort McHenry. Lee left for Baltimore in November, returned to Arlington for Christ-
mas, and then went back to Baltimore early in 1849. His family joined him in August, except for Custis, who was
attending school in Alexandria. Mary, now 14 years old and able to truly appreciate her surroundings in a large
metropolitan environment, came to thoroughly enjoy life in Baltimore. She was enthralled by life in a big city, and
she attended an all-girls school, which allowed her for the first time to spend extensive time with girls her own
age. Although Baltimore was far behind New York City in population, it was the second most populous U.S. city
in 1850, and Mary's experiences in a vibrant, cosmopolitan area whet her appetite for this lifestyle and for travel.

The Lee family's stay in Baltimore lasted less than three full years, because in the spring of 1852 Lee was named
the superintendent of West Point. Custis had entered the U.S. Military Academy in 1850, and his family would
soon relocate there after a short stay at Arlington. Initially Mary attended the post school at West Point, but she
soon transferred to an all-girls school named Pelham Priory that was near New York City. This school was unusual
in that the curriculum included much more than the typical women's subjects of art and piano. Mary and the other
students had classes in European history, Latin, and Greek in addition to strong biblical studies. During this time,
Mary, who was in her late teens, began to sign her letters Marielle, which suggests that she was beginning to ex-
press her own identity. Mary had grown to be a poised, self-assured young woman with dark, curly hair and dark,
penetrating eyes. One of Custis' classmates at West Point, Jeb Stuart, who would go on to fame in the Civil War,
described Mary as attractive "both as regards beauty and sprightliness," but Stuart had no romantic intentions to-
ward the eldest Lee daughter.

In the spring of 1855 Lee received a new assignment that would again require that he be separated from his family.
Lee's new assignment was in Texas as a member of a cavalry regiment. On the last day of March in 1855, Lee's
tenure as West Point superintendent officially came to an end. After packing their belongings and making other
preparations, the Lee family left West Point on April 9, which was to be the day ten years later on which Lee, as
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he, himself, said, "would rather die a thousand deaths" than do what he actually did, that is, meet with General
Ulysses S. Grant in a small town in central Virginia. While Lee journeyed to his new assignment, Mrs. Lee, An-
nie, Agnes, Rob, and Mildred lived at Arlington with Mrs. Lee's father, G.W.P. Custis. Mrs. Lee's mother had
died two years earlier. Mary went to Baltimore, the city which she had enjoyed so much a few years earlier, to
care for Lee's sister, Anne Marshall. After Mary rejoined the family at Arlington, she took on the duty of school-
ing Rob and Mildred, ages 12 and nine, respectively. Lee fretted about this in a letter to Mrs. Lee. He stated that,
while he felt that Mary would do well in instructing her siblings, he was worried that she might be too overbear-
ing. Lee wrote, "She must exert her self control & ingenuity by making it agreable [sic] as well as instructive."
Lee loved his daughter, Mary, as he loved all his children, but he was not shy about expressing an opinion re-
garding what he perceived as flaws. In a letter, Lee said that Mary was "knowing and opinionated" and added,
"All the experience of others is lost on her." These statements about his daughter indicate that Lee felt that Mary
was not at all inclined to take advice, including, most likely, the advice of her father.

For his new assignment, Lee was made second in command of the newly formed Second Cavalry, which would
serve in Texas protecting residents on the frontier from Indians. The commander of this cavalry regiment was
Albert Sydney Johnston, who, six years later in the Civil War, outranked Lee again and was one of only two such
officers in the Confederate army to do so, at least until the battle of Shiloh when every general in the Confederate
hierarchy moved up a notch after Johnston was removed from the roster of Confederate generals by a bullet that
may have been fired by someone in Johnston's own army. (The only other Confederate general who outranked
Lee, and who, in fact, was the highest ranking officer in the Confederate army, was Samuel Cooper, who is de-
scribed in the history brief of March 2013, which is archived on the web site of the Cleveland Civil War
Roundtable (http://www.clevelandcivilwarroundtable.com/articles/comment/history briefs13.htm).) While Lee
was in Texas, he had an extended encounter with another future Civil War general, one who was a fellow Virgin-
ian, but who made the opposite decision as Lee did and instead fought for the Union. In the fall of 1856 Lee was
assigned to court-martial duty in San Antonio, and one person who accompanied him was Major George H.
Thomas. Chasing after marauding Comanches and Kiowas was certainly frustrating for Lee, but a respite for
court-martial duty was hardly welcome, because Lee had little enthusiasm for this. In a letter to his wife, Lee
wrote about one specific aspect that annoyed him. Complaining about the legal maneuverings of the two lawyers
who were defending the accused officer at the court-martial, Lee wrote that the lawyers were "accustomed to the
tricks and stratagems of special pleadings, which, of no other avail, absorb time and stave off the question."

Lee's assignment with the Second Cavalry had kept him away from his family for more than two and a half years
when Lee received word of the unexpected death of his father-in-law, G.W.P. Custis, in October 1857. Because
Lee was executor of the estate, he asked for and received a furlough and returned to Arlington. The difficulties in
handling the will caused Lee to remain at Arlington for almost two years, although there were some short trips
for various military duties, such as court-martial duty at West Point and heading the mission to suppress John
Brown's raid.
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Lee departed Arlington for his return to Texas on February 10, 1860. Ten months and ten days later South
Carolina seceded from the United States. Lee was recalled to Washington, arrived at Arlington three days be-
fore the inauguration of Abraham Lincoln, had meetings which failed to sway him into fighting for the Union,
and then made his decision to fight for Virginia and the Confederacy. On Sunday, April 21, 1861 Lee attend-
ed church services with one of his daughters, whose identity is not known with complete certainty, but is
thought to most likely be Mary. After the services a group of people gathered around Lee to speak with him.
The discussion went on for so long that Mary and one of her friends decided to go to the friend's house, which
was near the church. Mary watched through an upstairs window and could only speculate about the conversa-
tion, which probably involved a discussion of Lee taking command of Virginia's forces now that the Old Do-
minion had officially declared its intention to secede. After some time Lee came for his daughter, and they
returned to Arlington.

Three and a half weeks after Mary watched her father engage in this discussion, she and her family were
forced to leave their home at Arlington. With Annie still at White House on the Pamunkey River and Mildred
still at school in Winchester, Mrs. Lee, Mary, and Agnes moved west to an estate owned by relatives. Shortly
thereafter Agnes went to White House to be with Annie, and Mrs. Lee and Mary moved west to stay at anoth-
er estate. In the fall of 1861, Mrs. Lee and Mary also went to live at White House. In the winter Mary moved
to Richmond, and she took a brief trip from there to visit the winter camp of Jeb Stuart near Fairfax Court
House. Stuart, who had described Mary as attractive when he was a student at West Point, wrote to his wife
about Mary's visit and said, "Miss Mary Lee spent a few days...during a fine spell of weather...Poor Gen
Ewell is desperately but hopelessly smitten." If Stuart's impression about Richard Ewell was correct, then this
future corps commander in the Army of Northern Virginia was infatuated with the eldest daughter of his fu-
ture army commander.

At Christmastime that winter, Mary received a letter from her father, who had been sent to the southeastern
part of the Confederacy to oversee the organization of coastal defenses
there. The letter contains a warmth of emotion that is not typically associ-
ated with the man who is per- ceived as perpetually austere. Lee wrote to his
eldest daughter, "Having dis-

I have been looking for some-

tributed such poor as I had to those around me,
thing for you....I
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send you some sweet violets, that I gathered for you this morning, while covered with dense white frost, whose
chrystals [sic] glittered in the bright sun like diamonds, and formed a brooch of rare beauty and sweetness, which
could not be fabricated by the expenditure of a world of money." Lee contrasted the invaluable beauty of the vio-
lets with their paltry monetary value by adding, "Yet how little will it purchase! But see how God provides for our
pleasure in every way." Lee also included a wish for both Mary and himself. "May God guard and preserve you for
me, my dear daughter! Among the calamities of war, the hardest to bear perhaps, is the separation of families and
friends." Lee's emotion shifted when he continued his letter by writing about the loss of Arlington. "Your old
home, if not destroyed by our enemies, has been so desecrated, that I cannot bear to think of it. I should have pre-
ferred it to have been wiped from the earth, its beautiful hill sunk, and its sacred trees buried, rather than to have
been degraded by the presence of those who revel in the ill they do for their own selfish purposes."

Mary was still living in Richmond when her father returned to that city in after his mission to organize defenses in
the southeastern region of the Confederacy. This not only gave Mary an opportunity to visit with her father, but
also to ride Lee's horse, Traveller. The spring of 1862 was also the time when Mary received an unexpected pack-
age from an unknown sender. The package contained a copybook that belonged to Mary, into which, as a young
girl, she had transcribed various texts such as poetry to practice her penmanship, as was customary at that time. On
some pages of the copybook that had been blank, Mary saw two poems which were written in handwriting that
was not her own and which explained how the copybook had found its way back to her. One poem, dated March
20, 1862, was signed by her cousin, Fitzhugh Lee. In the final stanza of the poem, Fitzhugh found a way to incor-
porate a paraphrase of the famous quote that Mary's paternal grandfather had uttered in his eulogy of George
Washington. This stanza, which served as a message to reveal the identity of the person who had composed the
poem, read, "From one who like the 'Father / of his Country' is 'first in war / first in peace,' first in the / heart of his
country cousin. / —& her first cousin." Jeb Stuart's poem which was dated a day earlier than Fitzhugh's, gave some
indication of how the copybook had come into their possession, although the explanation lacked specific details
and stated only that he had found the book. In the final stanza of Stuart's poem, he declared triumphantly that
Mary's copybook was, "Snatched from the foul invader's touch— / Restored, unsullied to Marielle! / Be thou, pure
page,—I beg this much— / A still reminder, some day to tell— / That one too true to be discreet— / Here laid his
off'ring at her feet." Stuart's poem was signed "Jeb" and addressed "To Marielle," a name which also appeared in
the poem's final stanza. That was the name which Mary had used for herself when she met Jeb Stuart at West
Point. It is unclear how the copybook had fallen into the hands of "the foul invader" or how Jeb Stuart had come
upon it, but it is interesting to think of one of the greatest cavalry commanders of the Civil War sitting in camp
composing poetry to a woman he had met while he was a student at West Point. Mary kept the copybook for the
rest of her life, and in May 1864 she pasted a copy of Jeb Stuart's obituary next to the poem that he wrote for her.
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Jeb Stuart entered Mary's life again later that year, while Mary was living with relatives at an estate near the Potomac
River. When Ambrose Burnside moved the Army of the Potomac to the Rappahannock River prior to the battle of Fred-
ericksburg, the estate where Mary was staying fell behind enemy lines. Stuart sent two of his scouts into enemy territory
to extricate Mary, but she refused to leave, and the scouts returned without her. Mary remained at the estate into 1863
and then traveled to Richmond and rejoined her mother and her sisters, Agnes and Mildred, after the Army of the Poto-
mac withdrew in order to counteract Lee's invasion of Pennsylvania. For most of the remainder of the Civil War, Mary
lived with Mrs. Lee, Agnes, and Mildred, much of the time in Richmond. Mary was in Richmond with her mother and
sisters when the Confederate capital fell. Although Mrs. Lee's rheumatic disease made it difficult for her to be moved,
Mrs. Lee's refusal to leave rather than her physical incapacity was the reason that the Lee women stayed in their rented
house, even though some of the flames in the burning city came dangerously close to that house. When the Union army
occupied Richmond, an officer offered to have Mrs. Lee moved to a safer place, but she again refused, and the officer
had guards posted at the house. Less than a week later, the Army of Northern Virginia surrendered, and less than a week
after the surrender, the Army of Northern Virginia's commander joined his family in the rented house in Richmond.

In the early summer of 1865, when the Lee family moved to Derwent, the cottage on the James River that had been of-
fered to them as a temporary residence, Mary went with her family. But very soon thereafter Mary moved to Staunton,
Virginia to live with relatives, because she was not enthusiastic about living in the cramped, remote cottage. Lee en-
joyed having his daughters near him, and this would have been of particular comfort to him in the aftermath of the Civil
War. He was probably not pleased when Mary chose to move to Staunton, but he was also probably not surprised, since
Mary had long before shown her independence and her tendency to do as she wanted. As it happened, Mary attended a
social gathering in Staunton, where she commented to another guest, most likely in her typical blunt way, that Southern-
ers were offering her father many things, but not employment, which was the thing he wanted most. That guest was a
friend of one of the trustees of Washington College in Lexington, Virginia, which was in the process of searching for a
new president. This guest conveyed the information to the trustee, and the trustee mentioned Mary's comment at a sub-
sequent meeting at which possible candidates for the open position were being discussed. The board of trustees voted
unanimously to offer the position to Lee and dispatched someone to deliver the offer. By the end of August 1865 Lee
accepted the offer, although he and his family had never been to Lexington, and moving there would take them fur-
ther from familiar people and places. But the position of president came with the use of a house, which allowed
Lee to provide his family a place to live. Shortly after accepting the position at Washington College, Lee went to
Lexington alone. His family remained at Derwent, because the president's house needed to be refurbished before
the rest of his family could move. Lee learned on his trip to Lexington that his new city of residence was not easily
reached. There was no direct railroad, and travel to Lexington was typically by packet boat or stagecoach. Regard-
ing the various routes for traveling to Lexington, Lee reputedly said that "whichever [route]...you select, you will
wish you had taken the other." In spite of the travel difficulties, which must have been especially hard for Mrs. Lee
due to her rheumatic disease, Lee's family came in November after the president's house was ready, and Lee settled
in for the only post-war job he ever had.
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Thus it was that Robert E. Lee came upon his post-war career as a college president. In this instance Mary's as-
sertiveness and outspokenness, traits which Lee had criticized, worked to great advantage for her father.

While Lee's post-war years were focused on running a college, Mary began to travel extensively and continued to
do so for the rest of her life. That Mary traveled on her own for many years and to many places fits with her dar-
ing and independent nature. For most of the time from 1870 until the beginning of World War I, Mary lived out-
side of the U.S. During this time she went to more than 26 countries, with only brief trips back to the U.S. When
she was in Europe she stayed most often in London, Paris, or Rome and traveled from those cites to the places
she wanted to visit. She spent a whole year in Australia and moved around the country by rail. She visited India,
Ceylon, Java, Hong Kong, and Japan, had an audience with Pope Leo XIII, and also spent a week as a guest of an
Indian maharaja, which she described as "a piece out of the Arabian Nights!" Mary used a bribe to gain entry into
the Hagia Sofia mosque in Istanbul, which was a perilous undertaking for her due to both her gender and her reli-
gion. During her stay in Istanbul, Mary tried to join a group that was going on an excursion to Egypt, but for
some reason she was excluded. Mary contacted a prominent British official whom she had met, and he sent a pri-
vate ship to transport Mary to Egypt. When the people in the excursion party realized that this had happened, one
of them reputedly complained about Mary's special treatment with the caustic comment, "What in the world is
she—merely the daughter of a defeated General?" Another member of the group provided the explanation for this
treatment by replying to the question, "That is the reason. She is the daughter of that defeated General."

Mary's travels, however, were not without problems. She once accidentally started a fire in a hotel in Naples, and
she fell through a ceiling of an old cathedral in England. When Mary was in Egypt, she was invited by an Ameri-
can official to attend a dinner honoring Ulysses S. Grant and his wife, Julia, who were on their world tour follow-
ing Grant's presidency. Mary declined the invitation, reputedly with the brusque statement, "I wouldn't sit down
at the same table with General Grant to save his life." This led someone who heard about Mary's remark to char-
acterize Mary as "uninhibited," having "a mind of her own," and "as unrestrained in her speech as she was uncon-
ventional in her conduct." This person's intent may have been to hurl an insult at Mary because of Mary's refusal
to attend the dinner, but the comments were not only an accurate description of Mary,
but may also have been something that Mary would have agreed with and been proud
of. The daughter of the American official who invited Mary to the dinner responded to
Mary's refusal with much greater invective by writing in a letter that Mary was "a horri-
bly ugly old maid, and very queer."
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Not everyone, however, considered Mary ugly. One person described Mary as having a "strong, but somewhat
eccentric character" and further described her as "wholly devoid of fear." To someone else, Mary was a "very
masterful type, not afraid of anything or anybody." The descriptions of Mary by these two people seem appropri-
ate in light of Mary's willingness to travel to so many places and once there to undertake so many risky endeavors.
One newspaper reporter who interviewed Mary described her as "brilliant, original, and cultivated" with a
"handsome and intellectual personality," and also stated that whomever Mary came in contact with, she made
them "warm friends as well as ardent admirers." Another reporter's description was less complimentary. To him,
Mary was "large and masculine-looking," and he added that Mary had a "proud, calm face" and "a reputation for
extreme hautiness [sic]." During a visit to the U.S. in 1902, Mary was arrested in Alexandria, Virginia for staying
in the back of a streetcar with her black maid in the section where blacks were required to sit. She had to post a
five-dollar bond and was summoned to court, but she ignored the summons and forfeited the bond. Perhaps sur-
prisingly, in light of her independent nature, Mary was not a supporter of women's suffrage. In a statement that
would be considered sexist if it were uttered by a man, Mary once remarked that "a woman, if she is reasonably
attractive, can get everything she wants from men without a vote."

Mary, who was 79 years old at the time, was in Germany when World War I started, but she was able to go to
London and then to the U.S. While Mary was in London, a reporter interviewed her, and the woman who had
lived through the first modern war and was excruciatingly aware of the devastation and human toll that such a war
inflicts, gave her thoughts about the war that was beginning to be fought in Europe. Mary said, in a horribly pres-
cient assessment drawn from what she had witnessed in the past, "I am a soldier's daughter.... What I have seen of
this war, and what I can foresee of the misery which must follow, have made me nearly a peace advocate at any
price. My father often used to say that war is a terrible alternative, and should be the very last....I often wonder,

' with many misgivings, if, in this case, war was the last alternative....My sym-

pathy is with suffering wherever it exists, with the brave men who are
fighting and suffering in the trenches and with the brave women who in prac-
tically all homes in Europe are waiting and suffering." Mary could see that
Europe was about to learn the terrible lessons of modern warfare which the
U.S. discovered half a century before.

When Mary returned to the U.S. in 1914, she took up residence in Washing-
ton and lived there for three years. During that time, she became the last sur-
! viving child of Robert E. and Mrs. Lee after the death of her younger brother,
Rob.
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The other Lee children had died at various times before then. Mary was proud of her distinction as the last
surviving child of Robert E. Lee, and it was to be, by her own instructions, her epitaph. It is ironic that
Mary, who of all the Lee children was the most distant from the family, both literally and figuratively, came
to relish her distinction as the last of Lee's surviving children. Adding to this irony was the fact that Mary,
due to her extensive traveling, was not present at the funerals of either of her parents. After living in
Washington for three years, Mary, now 82 years old, went to Lexington in 1917. Her physical health
was beginning to fail, but her mental faculties were still strong. She made a catalog of the portraits from
Arlington, which were then at the college where her father had been president. She corrected what she
called "so many stupid mistakes" and prepared "a new & more correct list" that included the name of
the painter and when the portraits were done. For this task, Mary drew on the knowledge of the portraits
that she had received many years before from her grandfather, when she was living at Arlington while
her family was in St. Louis. During the last few years of Mary's life, when she was the only member of
the immediate family still alive, she developed a closeness to her family that she previously never had.
Mary's younger sister, Mildred, once wrote in a letter to a friend that Mary "is always absorbed in self,
first and foremost." One of the tragedies of Mary's life was that after she had spent so much of her adult
life away from her family, it was not until after all of the members of her immediate family had died
that Mary developed an attachment to her family. As such, she became devoted to the memory of her
family, when it was too late to be devoted to the members of her family.

In the fall of 1918 Mary moved to the last place where she would ever live, the Homestead Hotel at Hot
Springs, Virginia, which is where Mrs. Lee had gone several times to seek relief from her rheumatic
symptoms. Shortly after the armistice that ended the war whose horrors Mary had predicted, Mary be-
came ill, and she died on November 22, 1918 at the age of 83. Mary was the only one of the Lee daugh-
ters to leave a will, and, as stipulated in that will, she was cremated rather than buried, even though cre-
mation at that time was an uncommon practice in the U.S. and was considered eccentric and even reli-
giously unacceptable. She wrote in her will that this choice was because of her "life long horrow [sic]
of being boxed up in a coffin." She also stipulated in her will that her ashes be placed in an urn in-
scribed with her name, date of death, and the recognition that she was "the last surviving child of Gen-
eral Robert E. Lee." The urn was placed in the Lee family crypt, which is in the chapel on the campus
of the university where Lee had been president. Mary's will included a bequest to that university. Her
estate was $156,000 (almost $3.5 million in 2017 dollars), and her will also included bequests to chari-
table causes, to historical preservation, and to her relatives.

In light of the status of the U.S. at the time of Mary's birth and at the time of her death, it can be argued
that the country transformed to a greater degree during the 83-year span of Mary's life than during any

other 83-year span of time in the country's history. At the time of Mary's birth in 1835, Andrew Jackson
was nearing the end of his presidency. Jackson led a nation of 24 states and a population of 15 million
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of which fewer than 10% lived in cities. Two of the leading architects of U.S. independence, including the author of the
Declaration of Independence, had died less than ten years earlier, and the man who has been called the Father of the
Constitution was not to die until one year after Mary's birth. When Mary died in 1918, President Woodrow Wilson
oversaw a country of 48 states, 11 of which had to be retained forcibly by means of a war in which Mary's father
played a prominent role in support of the cause to remove those 11 stars from the American flag. The population had
increased almost seven-fold to 100 million with half now living in cities. In the year that Mary died, the U.S. Post Of-
fice initiated regular airmail service, automobiles were being produced commercially in the U.S., and women's suf-
frage, an issue for which Mary had little enthusiasm, had gained the momentum that would carry it into becoming the
law of the land. The U.S. which Mary departed in death was far different from the U.S. into which Mary was born.

To use a biological analogy, Mary's life spanned the period when the U.S. went through puberty, that is, when it tran-
sitioned from its childhood as a relatively undeveloped, uninfluential country to its adulthood as a world power,
which stood among the world's other powerful nations and which was involved in and was affecting world affairs.
At the time of Mary's birth, the U.S. had gone through its embryonic period, been born, and was at the end of its
childhood. The prepubescent U.S. that existed at the time when Mary was born had aged past a childhood when it
was guided by those who had brought the country into existence. Now those people, like the nation's childhood,
were gone. At the time when Mary was born, the U.S. was entering a phase of maturing beyond the nascent coun-
try that it had been, and it began a period when it underwent prodigious growth, geographically, socially, and cul-
turally. By the time of Mary's death, the U.S. had gone through the intense growing pains of becoming an adult, in
particular the war that drastically altered the lives of Mary and her family. The country still had much more ma-
turing ahead, but when Mary died, the U.S. was the young adult which bore a much closer resemblance to the old-
er, more mature country that exists today than the U.S. in 1835 bore to the U.S. of 1918. Mary Lee's long life,
which she lived in the way that she wanted, coincided with the vital period of national maturation that was critical
in shaping the country that the U.S. has become.

During Mary's long life, she had a vast number of extraordinary experiences, including a youth at one of the most
scenic estates in the U.S., sleeping in a room that was used by the Marquis de Lafayette, living through the Civil
War, and traveling extensively to a large and widespread number of enticing places. Of all the members of the
immediate Lee family, Mary was the one who was least connected to the family. Unlike Dorothy in the movie The
Wizard of Oz, who reached the conclusion that if she wanted to search for her "heart's desire," she need not "look
any further than my own backyard," Mary chased her "heart's desire" all over the world. It was Mary's independ-
ence which allowed her to enjoy many of her experiences, but this independence also came with a cost, in that she
was in some ways estranged from her family. In contrast to her younger sister, Mildred, who was so dedicated to
her family that it led to an adulthood that was despondent and unfulfilling, Mary focused most of her attention and
energy on living her life as she wanted, which led Mildred to describe Mary as being "always absorbed in self,
first and foremost." Regrettably for both Mary and Mildred, neither one was able to find a balance between self
and family.
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Mary was so focused on the former that she sacrificed the latter, and for Mildred the reverse was true. There
is evidence from Mildred's writings that she came to regret the decisions that led to her sacrificing her own
needs in favor of her family's needs. It is not known if Mary came to regret the decisions that led to her be-
coming distant from her family. She seemed to feel a closeness to her family late in her life, but by that time
all of the other family members had died and it was too late for Mary to develop a closeness to any of them.
Even from an early time in Mary's life, it was her way to do as she wanted, a characteristic that her father
described kindly as "her vivacity" and more harshly as "knowing and opinionated." Perhaps Mary wished
late in her life that she had made some changes that would have brought her closer to her family, but whether
or not she did, she had to live with the decisions that she made. In light of Mary's fiercely independent na-
ture, she most likely was willing to live with those decisions. The epitaph that Mary composed for herself
indicates that she was the last surviving child of Robert E. Lee. Had Mary known the lyrics of a particular
song that was popular more than half a century after Mary's death, she might have added a line from that
song to her epitaph in order to emphasize a trait and a lifestyle that made her unique among the four Lee
daughters: "I did it my way."

The map that caused an error in the border between Ohio and Michigan

Congress used this inaccurate map in 1787 when it set the border between the future states

of Ohio and Michigan as part of the Northwest Ordinance. As a result, the border between these two states
was incorrect. Because of this, Robert E. Lee was on an expedition to survey the Ohio-Michigan border in
1835 at the time that his daughter, Mary, was born.
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